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July 28, 2009
To Members of the City Council And Fellow Memphians:

I am pleased to submit The City of Memphis’ Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. This report
documents our sound financial position and operations for the year,
as well as the current economic climate of Memphis.

Progressive leadership, strategic planning and fiscal prudence
resulted in the City having an exceptionally strong financial position
at the end of fiscal year 2009 despite the recent global economic
downturn. Skillfully maneuvering the ever changing financial
landscape better equips the City to focus on its foremost priorities -
public safety, economic growth and public services.

The City’s many accomplishments this year are also evidence

of our judicious stewardship of tax dollars. We are extremely
pleased with the outstanding progress made toward revitalizing

our neighborhoods. Where dilapidated public housing once

stood, Legends Park, a new $83 million Hope VI residential and
mixed use development, is well on its way to bringing new life

to Downtown Memphis and its surrounding areas. Legends Park
and neighborhoods throughout the City will be safer as a result of
the Real Time Crime Center that was established this year by the
Memphis Police Department to proactively reduce crime by using state-of-the-art technology to track
criminal activity. Perhaps one of the most impressive accomplishments achieved during the year involved
providing summer employment opportunities to approximately 3,000 teens and young adults. The higher
level of summer youth employment was made possible through funds received from the American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Economic Stimulus Funding). We are excited about all of the
new possibilities associated with these Economic Stimulus dollars. These funds will help to stabilize our
local economy and serve as a catalyst to creating a more vibrant and productive community.

Our accomplishments this year in the midst of financially turbulent times nationwide are clear indicators
of this City’s strength and resolve. As I prepare to retire, I am confident that the City, through its
employees and partnerships, will continue to carry out its mission to provide responsive and cost effective
services through the enhancement of employee, neighborhood, youth and business development. As such,
we present this report as part of our commitment to inform all interested parties of our financial condition.
Respectfully submitted,

e

Dr. Willie W. Herenton
Mayor
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December 31, 2009

To the Mayor, City Council, and Citizens of Memphis:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Memphis, Tennessee (the City) for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2009, is hereby submitted in accordance with the Memphis City Charter requirement for
an independent audit conducted by a certified public accounting firm. The financial statements are presented
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as set forth by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and have been audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Additionally, the report is presented for compliance with the provisions of the Single Audit Act and
related Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-
Profit Organizations.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently,
management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained
in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that it has established for this
purpose. Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material
misstatements.

The Office of Internal Audit supports the internal controls within the City by reviewing and appraising existing
accounting and management controls, ascertaining compliance with existing plans, policies and procedures,
and ascertaining the reliability of accounting and other data developed within the City.

The City’s financial statements have been audited by Thompson Dunavant PLC and Jones & Tuggle, CPAs,
licensed certified public accountants. Thompson Dunavant PLC has issued an unqualified (“clean”) opinion on
the City’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2009. The independent auditor’s report is located
at the front of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. The MD&A
complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.



Profile of the Government

The City of Memphis is a home rule city under State law and was, incorporated in 1826. The present Charter
was adopted in 1968 and provides for a Mayor-Council form of government. The Charter provides for the
election of a mayor and thirteen council members. The City currently occupies a land area of 340.5 square
miles and serves a population of 669,651. The City is empowered to levy a property tax on both real and
personal property located within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state statute to extend its corporate
limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the City Council.

Under the provisions of the City charter, the City Council makes the laws that govern the City. The Council is
responsible for, among other things, approving the budget, setting the tax rate and establishing other lawful
taxes and fees necessary to secure sufficient revenue to fund the budget as approved. All administrative duties
concerning day-to-day operations of city government are the duty and responsibility of the mayor. Each of

the various divisions of city government has a director who is appointed by the mayor with the City Council’s
approval.

The City provides a full range of municipal services including: police, fire, culture/recreation, community
development, solid waste management, public works, planning and zoning, sewers, utilities, transit and
general administrative services. This report includes the financial statements of the funds of the City and
boards and authorities that provide City services and for which the City is financially accountable. “Financial
Accountability” is the benchmark used to determine which organizations are a part of the primary government
or represent component units of the primary government.

The City evaluates its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards

Board requirements to identify the various organizations as: (1) organizations which are part of the City’s

legal entity; (2) organizations that are legally separate and for which the City appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing body and the City is either able to impose its will or has the potential of receiving
financial benefit or realizing a financial burden from the organization; and (3) organizations that are fiscally
dependent on the City. The following organizations are component units of the City and as such are discretely
presented (separated from the primary government) in the general purpose financial statements:

e Board of Education of the Memphis City Schools
e Memphis Area Transit Authority

e Memphis and Shelby County Airport Authority

e Memphis Zoological Society



Further explanations of the discretely presented component units and the reasons for their inclusion are
provided in the notes to the financial statements.

The following entities are considered to be joint ventures of the City:

e Mid-South Coliseum

e Memphis and Shelby County Convention Center

e Memphis and Shelby County Port Commission

e Public Building Authority of Memphis and Shelby County

e New Memphis Arena Public Building Authority of Memphis and Shelby County

These organizations also are further described in the notes to the financial statements.

The following related organizations and jointly governed organizations are excluded from the City’s financial
statements, as they do not meet the definition of financial accountability as defined by GASB:

e Memphis Housing Authority (related organization)

e Memphis and Shelby County Center City Commission

e Memphis and Shelby County Parking Authority

e Memphis Center City Revenue Finance Corporation

e Industrial Development Board

e Depot Redevelopment Corporation of Memphis and Shelby County
e Sports Authority of Memphis and Shelby County Incorporated

The City administration annually prepares a plan of services for the upcoming fiscal year and the estimated
cost of providing these services. This plan is reviewed by the City Council and is formally adopted by the
passage of a budget ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year. The ordinance provides for budgetary
control at program levels (e.g., public safety) and by division (e.g. police) and said budgets cannot be exceeded
without the approval of the City Council. The mayor has authority to approve transfers between categories
(e.g., personnel, materials and supplies) within maximum limits for each transfer and each program. Transfers
between programs, however, require authorization by ordinance or resolution of the City Council.



Economic Condition Assessment

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from
the broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City operates. The Center for Business
and Economic Research at the University of Tennessee provided the following economic overview:

The National Economy

e The National Bureau of Economic Research is expected to signal an end to the recession which began in
December 2007. The current recession, the longest and deepest economic contraction since the Great
Depression, is now being referred to by many as the Great Recession.

e Total job losses to date for the current recession exceed 8.0 million. The U.S. unemployment rate rose to
9.8 percent in September of this year from 6.2 percent in September of last year. The economy continues
to shed jobs, but the rate of job loss is improving.

e Every sector of the national economy and many reaches of the global economy have experienced drastic
setbacks. In the first quarter of the year, Growth Domestic Product (GDP) fell 6.4 percent on an annualized
basis, nonresidential fixed investment fell 39.2 percent, residential fixed investment fell 38.2 percent,
exports were down 29.9 percent and imports dropped 36.4 percent. Although GDP continued to contract
in second quarter, the economic environment improved markedly and is expected to continue to improve.

e The nation’s housing market is showing signs of a turnaround. Low housing prices, along with federal tax
credit for first-time home buyers, has helped lift the housing market from the bottom it realized in the first
quarter of the year.

e The key federal funds rate, currently in the 0.0 to 0.25 percent range, remains at unprecedented lows.
Inadequate demand and excess productive and commercial capacity has resulted in no inflationary impact.

Local Economy

The Memphis MSA is comprised of eight counties — Shelby, Tipton, and Fayette, TN; DeSoto, Marshall, Tate,
and Tunica, MS; and Crittenden, AR. The City of Memphis contains about 51 percent of the MSA’s population,
and Shelby County accounts for slightly more than 73 percent.

A key contributor to the stability of the Memphis and Shelby county economy is its job diversity. Government,
trade, healthcare services, hospitality and warehousing, transportation and utilities are all mainstays of the
regional economy. The City is conveniently located within 600 miles of most major cities and commercial
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markets in the United States. As a result of its central location and access to the interstate, Mississippi River,
rail and airport, the city is a major hub for distribution.

Although the recession is likely to have ended, it will be years before the state and local economies return to
their pre-recession levels. However, Memphis’ strong healthcare system, low cost of living and position as a
transportation hub leader will keep the city’s economy relatively stable until the state and nation fully recovers.

According to the Center for Regional Economics-8th District Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, between August
2008 and August 2009, employment growth in the Memphis MSA was negative in all goods-producing sectors

and in most service-providing sectors. The biggest percentage job losses were in manufacturing (6.1 percent);
natural resources, mining, and construction (8.2 percent); and information (6.9 percent). However, expansion

remains ongoing in the education and health services, other services and government sectors.

Tennessee’s unemployment rate has been consistently
above the nation’s rate throughout the recession.

The Memphis MSA unemployment rate faired Unemployment Rates (Seasonally Adjusted), 2009-2008

slightly better than the state’s unemployment rate. Region Sep 2009 Sep 2008 Percent Change
Tennessee’s September 2009 unemployment rate Memphis MSA* 9.9% 7.3% 2.6%
reflects a 3.3 percent increase from September 2008. Tennessee 10.5% 7.2% 3.3%
Unemployment statistics in the local economy faired United States 9.8% 6.1% 3.7%
slightly better than those of the state. Memphis' Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and Tennessee Department of Labor and
unemployment rate increased to 9.9 percent Workforce Development.

*Not Seasonally Adjusted

in September 2009, up 2.6 percent from a year
ago. Despite the current national recession, the
continuation of major local job creation initiatives
should improve the Memphis unemployment situation in the future.




The chart below shows that since fiscal year 2000, there has been a growing dependence on property tax
revenues while both Local Sales Taxes and State Shared Taxes have trended downwards as a percentage of
total revenues. During fiscal year 2006, the City realized a significant increase in property tax revenues as a
result of a rate increase. During fiscal year 2007 and fiscal year 2008, the percentage of revenues from current
property taxes, local sales taxes and state shared taxes remained relatively constant year over year. Property
Tax revenues in the general fund increased in total and as a percentage of total revenues due to an increase in
the property tax rate allocation to the general fund.

Percentage of General Fund Revenues from
Property Taxes and Sales Taxes

w
50%
—e— Total State Taxes
8 40% -
5 5§ 30% —a— Local Sales Taxes
S 2()0/ 'v‘.\l\ B
3 ° - s Current Property
10% 0o o o+ Taxes
a 0%

Nationally and locally, fiscal managers are continually faced with managing fluctuating energy prices,
healthcare costs and employment costs. Policy makers are concerned with cost-push inflation as employment
costs represent about two-thirds of total costs of production/service. During fiscal year 2005, City managers
executed spending cuts and a temporary layoff, resulting in substantial expense savings. In an attempt to
contain personnel costs and other operating expenses,
the City implemented additional spending cuts and a
hiring freeze during fiscal year 2006. During fiscal year
2007, growth in personnel expense remained flat while

Total General Fund Expense vs Personnel Expense

9.00% -

total general fund expenses decreased by 1 percent. % ;ﬁ; o Posoms oase
Total General Fund expenses increased by more than 7 8 500%
percent in fiscal year 2008 due primarily to an increase % 1.00% \ —=— Total Expense

<

. . . . 1.00% } M ' Increase
in personnel expense. The Fire and Police divisions 300% \/
were the key drivers to overall personnel spending. The -5.00%

Police and Fire divisions’ increases resulted from higher S
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overtime expense to support crime initiatives and
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to compensate for vacancies. Personnel expenses grew by 6% in fiscal year 2009 as a result of a 5% general
increase given to all employees and the filling of vacancies. Total expense increased by 9% as a result of the
personnel expense increase, increased subsidies to the Memphis Area Transit Authority (MATA), increased
retiree healthcare premium expense and prepayments of debt service for the Fire and Police divisions.

The Memphis real estate market proved not to be immune to the downfall of the global economy and the
recession. Sub-prime lending problems that plagued the rest of the nation significantly impacted the Memphis
residential market. Total home sales decreased a little

over 17.1% year over year in September. However, Home Sales in Memphis, September 2008 - 2009
the median and average sales prices in September

increased 12.5% and 6.1%, respectively versus the 2008 2009 Percent
prior year. The improvement in the median and ———————e e
average sales prices signifies the beginning of market

improvement. Many of the foreclosures linked to IAOJ[Z! Hognf Salle_s $10(1)138(1) $11;,§(2)8 1;;3’
subprime mortgages have been purchased and taken A\?erI:ge Sa;zs Sfiﬁe $129:805 $137:679 6:10/2
off the market. An article in the U.S. News and World Active Listings 11,969 13,227 1.1%

Report magazine recently ranked Memphis as fourth
on a list of hard-hit housing markets that are ready to
rebound.

Source: Memphis Area Association of Realtors Multiple Listing Service.

Recent Developments:

e Dr. Willie W. Herenton, the City’s first African-American mayor, retired on July 30th after serving 18 years as
the City’s mayor.

e On February 17, 2009, President Obama signed the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 2009 which
provided $787 billion to stimulate the economy for the next two years. The City has currently utilized
stimulus funds to provide jobs to approximately 3,000 youth and have plans to utilize the funds for various
capital projects.

e Owens Corning, a Fortune 500 Company, recently announced that the company will invest $22 million into
a facility the company owns in North Memphis. Owens Corning is a leading global producer of residential
and commercial building materials, glass-fiber reinforcements and engineered materials for composite
systems.

¢ The University of Memphis approved a 20-year $750 million master plan, to create a new “front door” to
the university’s campus, including replacing existing educational facilities as well as enhancing surrounding
neighborhoods. Three private commercial developments are currently under construction: a $63.5 million,
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mixed use residential, retail and services development; a 85-unit mixed use student apartment building
and retail center, and a 40-unit luxury condominium.

e The City selected a master developer to redevelop the entire 170-acre Fairgrounds site located in the mid-
town area of Memphis. This site is the former home of the Mid-South Fair and the Libertyland Amusement
Park. The plan will include the renovation of the City’s Liberty Bowl football stadium. The City has received
approval from the State legislature to establish a tourist development zone (TDZ) which will allow the City
to fund a portion of the improvements from sales tax increment financing.

e Negotiations with Bass Pro Shops concerning development of the unused Pyramid arena have advanced
significantly and the execution of a development seems imminent.

Long-term Financial Planning

The financial position of the City continues to improve dramatically as a result of the City’s conservative
budgeting methodology and its ability to maintain disciplined spending practices. To ensure the City’s financial
position remains sound, the City has implemented a multi-year financial management plan as a means of
exploring new and more efficient methods of revenue generation and cost-effective service delivery.

The City successfully executed a shared services arrangement or a joint purchasing agreement with the local
public utility and the local public transit provider as a result of our planning initiative. In addition, several
functional consolidation opportunities with Shelby County Government are being explored. One of the

most promising opportunities include the potential merger of the engineering departments and the two fire
departments. Also, the City is working with the Memphis Regional Chamber and Memphis Tomorrow to create
an economic development “Growth Strategy” that will ideally enhance the city’s overall growth, tax base and
wages.

We envision a model city government based on proven business principles that support the facilitation and
execution of the City’s fiscal and operational goals.

Relevant Financial Policies

The City of Memphis implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Employers for Post-employment Benefits Other than Pensions during
fiscal year 2008. The statement provides for recognition of the cost of other post-employment benefits (OPEB)
over employees’ service periods, similar to the treatment required for pension costs.

8
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Long-term obligations associated with OPEB costs became a required disclosure for Memphis, effective July 1,
2007. Other required disclosures, per GASB Statement No. 45, include identifying the contributions made in
comparison to OPEB costs, changes in net OPEB obligations, funding progress during the current year and the
two previous years, and the actuarial valuations and assumptions used.

The City established an OPEB Trust in fiscal year 2008. The current valuation reflects $934 million as the
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL). The city is continually reviewing funding strategies and health
benefit plan change alternatives in an effort to reduce the obligation.

Major Initiatives

In addition to the annual operating budget, the City also adopts a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) that

is a multi-year plan for capital expenditures to replace and expand the City’s infrastructure, vehicles and
equipment. The program is updated annually to reflect the latest priorities, updated cost estimates and
available revenue sources. Various sources of revenue include general obligation bonds, federal grants, state
grants, user fees and private funds. Projects are reviewed based on need, impact on the area, quality of life in
our neighborhoods and the general economic climate of the City. Highlights of the CIP budget plan for 2010-
2014 are:

e The Fire Division’s budget includes funds for the replacement of pumpers, aerial trucks and ambulances.

e The Police Division’s budget includes funds for more than 150 replacement police cars, helicopter
replacements and precinct renovations.

e The Parks Division’s budget includes funds for improvements to aquatic facilities, renovations to the
Liberty Bowl Stadium, land acquisitions for future parks, improvements to the Wolf River greenway and
improvements at the Memphis Botanic Garden.

e The Public Services and Neighborhoods Division’s budget includes funding for a new animal shelter and a
fourth vehicle inspection station.

e The Memphis Area Transit Authority’s capital improvement budget, heavily leveraged by Federal and
State funding, will be used to fund a new bus transfer station near the Memphis International Airport.
Preventative maintenance is funded partially by G.O. Bonds.

e Riverfront Development’s budget includes funds for Beale Street Landing and Cobblestone improvements.

e The Public Works Division’s budget includes funds to pave over 400 lane miles of streets each year, ADA
ramp improvements, several road projects and four bridge projects. The Stormwater Fund CIP budget
will allow the City to make major investments in drainage infrastructure throughout the City. The Sewer
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Fund projects are for the repair and replacement of sewer infrastructure, new sanitary sewers and
improvements to the treatment plants.

e The General Services Division’s budget includes major ADA improvements and minor improvements to
various City buildings and equipment. In addition, the budget reflects a new strategy to concentrate City-
wide vehicle purchasing to achieve economies of scale.

e Housing and Community Development’s budget includes funding for the Dixie Homes neighborhood
redevelopment project and funding for purchase of the Pyramid.

e The Engineering Division’s budget includes funding for replacement of traffic signals and intelligent
transportation improvements.

e Information System’s budget includes projects to upgrade the City’s information technology infrastructure.

Capital Planning Process

It is the role of the Finance Division to provide financing strategies to assist in developing a plan to fund the
capital improvement needs of the City. A key element of this strategy includes a comprehensive review

and assessment of the City’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to ensure the coordination of the City’s
planning initiatives, financial capacity and environmental/physical development are in alignment. The City’s
CIP has a capital budget which includes a spending plan for the upcoming year and a capital program which
includes a plan for capital expenditures that extend up to five (5) years and beyond. The success of the capital
improvement program depends on the broad participation and cooperation of the City’s divisions and quasi
city agencies. In addition, the CIP is linked to the operating budget.

The benefits of a successfully managed CIP include preservation of capital assets, improvement of
infrastructure, better coordination of capital needs and operating budgets, stabilization of debt costs
and improvement of the City’s credit rating. To develop an effective capital improvement program, a CIP
Committee was established during fiscal year 2006 for planning and oversight purposes. The committee
responsibilities include, but are not limited to the following:

¢ |dentify and determine status of previously approved projects and funding sources for each project.

e Evaluate the merits of division/department requests for CIP projects and equipment.

e Establish a priority list of capital need projects and a timeline for completion.

e Create a CIP funding plan that designates a revenue source/method of financing for each proposed project.

e Submit a CIP funding plan to the Mayor and City Council to include in next year’s capital budget and capital
expenditure plan for the next four (4) years.
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As part of the evaluation of capital improvement projects, the city employs both quantitative and qualitative
analysis.

Capital Expenditure Analysis

A review of Capital Improvement Projects are undertaken to insure that all major capital expenditures are not
only necessary and appropriate but also fall into categories that include, but are not limited to:

Critical Maintenance

Major Development/New Construction Initiatives
Infrastructure

Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition

= 0N =

Furthermore, Capital Improvement Projects are prioritized and coordinated with the plans of other public
entities to maximize the leveraging of resources with other major projects being developed in both the public
and private sectors.

Annexation Plans
Currently, there are no pending annexation ordinances under consideration by the City Council.
Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Memphis for its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. This was the 32nd consecutive year that the City has
achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must
publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report must
satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current comprehensive

annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are
submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
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The City also received GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its annual budget document for the
fiscal year beginning July 1, 2009, the 11th consecutive year for this award.

The preparation of this report could not have been accomplished without the dedicated efforts of the staff

of the City’s Finance Division and the City’s independent public accountants, Thompson Dunavant PLC and
Jones & Tuggle, CPAs. We wish to express our appreciation to both, with particular thanks to the City’s Deputy
Comptrollers, Sharon Cobbige and Janet Moore, and the entire Accounting staff.

Respectfully submitted,

MMJ//LéEQWai

Roland McElrath, CPA
Director of Finance

e 1. Dhomas

Patrice Thomas, CPA
Comptroller
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The Government Finance Officers Association
of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City
of Memphis for its comprehensive annual
financial report for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2007. In order to be awarded a Certificate
of Achievement, a government must publish
an easily readable and efficiently organized
comprehensive annual financial report. This
report must satisfy both generally accepted
accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a
period of one year only. We believe that

our current comprehensive annual financial
report continues to meet the Certificate of
Achievement Program's requirements and we
are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its
eligibility for another certificate.

Certificate of
Achievement
for Excellence
In Financial
Reporting
Presented to
City of Memphis
Tennessee

For its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2008

A Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporting is presented by the Government Finance Officers
Association of the United States and Canada to
government units and public employee retirement
systems whose comprehensive annual financial
reports (CAFRs) achieve the highest
standards in government accounting
and financial reporting.

f i pr

President

Gy

Executive Director
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City of Memphis, Tennessee

ORGANIZATION CHART

Primary Government and Discretely Presented Component Units

CITIZENS OF MEMPHIS
CITY BOARD
JUDICIAL MAYOR COUNCIL OF
EDUCATION
CHIEF APPOINTED
ADMINISTRATIVE BOARDS &
OFFICER AUTHORITIES
e City Attorney ¢ Memphis Area Transit Authority
e Executive
¢ Fire Services ¢ Memphis, Light, Gas and Water
e General Services
¢ Park Services ¢ Memphis, and Shelby County
* Personnel Airport Authority
¢ Police Services
¢ Public Services ¢ Memphis, Light, Gas and Water
e Public Works Retirement and Pension System
¢ Finance
e HCD
¢ Information Systems
» Office of Planning and Development

(1) The Board of Education and the appointed boards and authorities for Memphis Area Transit Authority and Memphis and Shelby
County Airport Authority are legally separate from the primary government. These component units are discretely reported in a
separate column in the combined financial statements to distinguish them from the primary government. Memphis light, Gas and
Water and Memphis Light, Gas and Water Retirement and Pension System are reported as part of the primary government. Certain
other boards and commissions not listed above do not meet the definition of component units as presented in GASB Statement
14. These entitles are further explained as related organizations, jointly governed organizations, and joint ventures in the Letter of
transmittal and Note 1 of the notes to the financial statements.
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THOMPSON<S%DUNAVANT

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS & CONSULTANTS

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Memphis, Tennessee

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Memphis, Tennessee (the “City”) as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2009, and the budgetary comparison for the general fund for
the year ended June 30, 2009, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s
management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on
our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of the Board of Education of the Memphis
City Schools, the Memphis-Shelby County Airport Authority and the Memphis Zoological
Society, which represent 95%, 93% and 96%, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and
revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units. We did not audit the financial
statements of the Electric, Gas, and Water Divisions of Memphis Light, Gas, and Water Division
(“MLGW?”), a major proprietary fund. MLGW Electric, Gas, and Water Divisions represent 89%,
88% and 96%, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and revenues of the business-type
activities of the primary government. We did not audit the financial statements of Memphis
Light, Gas, and Water Division Retirement and Pension System and Memphis Light, Gas, and
Water Division Other Post Employment Benefits Trust Fund, which represent 39%, 37% and
39%, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and total deductions of the fiduciary funds. Those
financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished
to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the aforementioned
entities, is based on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and the significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as
of June 30, 2009, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows where
applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

5100 Poplar Avenue « Clark Tower 30th Floor « Memphis, TN 38137 « Ph. 901.685.5575 » fax. 901.685.5583 = www.thompsondunavant.com

a Professional Limited Liability Company
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 23, 2009 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with ‘Government Auditing
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Management's discussion and analysis and the schedule of funding progress for other post
employment benefits as listed in the table of contents are not a required part of the basic
financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of
measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not
audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining
and individual fund financial statements and schedules, supplementary schedules, and
statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part
of the basic financial statements. The accompanying supplemental schedule of expenditures of
federal and state awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S.
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and
Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements of the
City. The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules, supplementary
schedules, and the supplemental schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards have
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

As discussed in note V.C. to the financial statements, the City is party to a lawsuit with The
Board of Education of the Memphis City Schools (BOE). The Chancery Court of Shelby County,
Tennessee (the “Court”) has ruled the City is to provide additional funding in the amount of
$57,460,947 to the BOE to meet its obligations as required by Tennessee’s education statutes.
The ruling has been appealed by the City and the Court has stayed judgment pending the
appeal. The appeals process suspends the finality of the judgment and the judgment of the
Court is subject to reversal or modification by the appellate court. The ultimate outcome of the
legal matter cannot be presently determined. However, management and legal counsel for the
City are of the opinion that the original judgment was flawed and without merit and that final
settlement of the matter will not have a material adverse effect on the City’s financial position.
Nevertheless, due to uncertainties, it is at least reasonably possible that final settlement may
have a material adverse effect on the City’s financial position.

Memphis, Tennessee
December 23, 2009



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Memphis, Tennessee (the City), we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. We
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that is furnished
in the letter of transmittal and notes to the financial statements. All amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in
thousands of dollars.

Financial Highlights

e The primary government’s total net assets increased by $9,239 and exceeded its liabilities at June 30, 2009 by
$2,026,456 (net assets).

e At June 30, 2009, the City’s governmental activities reported ending net assets of $93,250, a decrease of $50,751 or
35.2% from the prior year

e The City’s business-type activities reported ending net assets of $1,933,206, an increase of $59,990 or 3.2% from
prior year. A prior year adjustment was made to the MLGW division’s beginning net assets balance as a result of
implementing GASB Statement No. 49, Pollution Remediation Obligations.

e At June 30, 2009, the fund balance for the general fund was $106,603, an increase of $8,045 from prior year’s restated
balance. The unreserved portion of the fund balance was $96,912.

e The City’s total debt increased by $75,203 or 2.1% during the current fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis document is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information
to provide greater detail of data presented in the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers
with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the
two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the
financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net assets changed during the year ended June 30,
2009. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only
result in cash flow in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of
the City include general government, public safety, community services, transportation and environment, and education.
The business-type activities of the City include the operations of the regional sewer collection and treatment facilities, the
distribution of electricity, gas and water, and the operation of the storm water system.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (the primary government), but also the Board of
Education of the Memphis City Schools, Memphis Area Transit Authority, the Memphis-Shelby County Airport
Authority, and the Memphis Zoological Society each of which is a legally separate entity for which the City is financially
accountable. Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the financial information
presented for the primary government itself.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 (Continued)

The government-wide financial statements are presented as Exhibits A-1 and A-2; component unit financial statements are
presented as Exhibits A-14 and A-15.

Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City
can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as
well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in
evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact
of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison
between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains eighteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund
balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for its
major funds. Data from the other sixteen governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.
Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general, special revenue (except Workforce Investment Act Fund,
Community Service Fund, Community Development, Central Business Improvement District Fund, Community
Redevelopment Agency Fund, Midtown Corridor Fund and Education Fund), and debt service funds. Budgetary
comparison statements are provided to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

The basic governmental fund financial statements, including reconciliation to the government-wide Statements of Net
Assets and Activities, are presented as Exhibits A-3 through A-8.

Proprietary Funds. The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the
same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses
enterprise funds to account for its sewer collection and treatment facilities, the distribution of electricity, gas and water,
and operation of the storm water system. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate
costs internally among the City’s various functions. The City uses internal service funds to account for its printing and
supply services, self insurance for health benefits, self insurance for unemployment benefits, and operations and
maintenance of City vehicles. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type
functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail.
The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the sewer collection and treatment facilities
and the distribution of electricity, gas and water, both of which are considered to be major funds of the City; and
operations of the storm water system, a nonmajor fund. Conversely, the internal service funds are combined into a single,
aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal service funds is
provided in the form of combining statements.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements are presented as Exhibits A-9 through A-11.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 (Continued)

Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those
funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that
used for proprietary funds. The actuarially determined net pension asset (negative NPO) and net other post employment
benefit (OPEB) liability are reported in the government-wide statement of net assets as governmental activities.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements are presented as Exhibits A-12 and A-13.

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes which follow Exhibits A-1 through A-15, provide additional information
that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.
Information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits and other post
employment benefits to its employees is included in the notes to the financial statements.

Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules. Combining schedules provide detail in connection with
nonmajor governmental funds and internal service funds referred to earlier. Individual fund statements provide greater
detail, presented on the basis of budgeting (encumbrances included with expenditures), nonmajor special revenue and
capital projects funds, and debt service fund. Capital Asset schedules present information concerning the categories of
assets, function and service provided, source of funding and additions and deductions during the year. Combining and
individual fund statements and schedules are presented as Exhibits B through F.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The City’s
assets exceeded liabilities by $2,026,456 at June 30, 2009.

Condensed Statement of Net Assets

Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total
2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Current and other assets $ 895,621 948,401 1,897,161 1,853,297 2,792,782 2,801,698
Capital assets 1,123,525 1,134,285 1,760,971 1,789,526 2,884,496 2,923,811

Total assets 2,019,146 2,082,686 3,658,132 3,642,823 5,677,278 5,725,509
Long-term liabilities outstanding 1,092,492 1,128,834 1,262,398 1,151,213 2,354,890 2,280,047
Other liabilities 782,690 860,602 486,270 558,404 1,268,960 1,419,006

Total liabilities 1,875,182 1,989,436 1,748,668 1,709,617 3,623,850 3,699,053
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt 98,113 103,451 1,587,881 1,633,163 1,685,994 1,736,614
Restricted - - 88,703 91,215 88,703 91,215
Unrestricted 45,851 (10,201) 232,880 208,828 278,731 198,627

Total net assets $ 143,964 93,250 1,909,464 1,933,206 2,053,428 2,026,456

By far the largest portion of the City’s net assets (85.7%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings,
machinery, and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these
capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although
the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay this debt must be provided for by other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

(Continued)

An additional portion of the City’s net assets (4.5%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how
they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets (9.8%) is reflective of the City’s practice of
maintaining adequate reserves for payment of debt service and capital projects, while funding current operations with

current revenue sources.

Condensed Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total
2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Revenues:
Program Revenues:

Charges for services $ 124,538 124,828 1,718,871 1,891,562 1,843,409 2,016,390

Operating grants and

Contributions 49,822 56,402 25,185 26,705 75,007 83,107

Capital grants and

Contributions 3,217 3,217 1,766 524 4,983 3,741
General revenues:

Local taxes 549,149 531,339 - - 549,149 531,339

State taxes (local share) 96,193 88,203 - - 96,193 88,203

Hotel/motel tax 4,740 4,244 - - 4,740 4,244
Unrestricted investment earnings 7,367 5,614 74,064 62,356 81,431 67,970
Other 22,455 12,478 - - 22,455 12,478

Total revenues 857,481 826,325 1,819,886 1,981,147 2,677,367 2,807,472

Expenses:

General government 271,906 249,707 - - 271,906 249,707

Public safety 394,476 410,303 - - 394,476 410,303

Community services 96,130 114,776 - - 96,130 114,776

Transportation and environment 81,492 79,396 - - 81,492 79,396

Education 91,392 21,846 - - 91,392 21,846

Interest on long-term debt 50,250 48,046 - - 50,250 48,046

Sewer collection and treatment - - 51,507 57,802 51,507 57,802

Memphis Light, Gas and Water - - 1,629,803 1,790,499 1,629,803 1,790,499

Storm Water - - 13,480 13,419 13,480 13,419
Total expenses 985,646 924,074 1,694,790 1,861,720 2,680,436 2,785,794
?;&:ﬁ; (decrease) in net assets before (128,165)  (97,749) 125,096 119,427 (3,069) 21,678
Transfers 59,113 46,998 (61,759)  (59,437) (2,646) (12,439)
Increase (decrease) in net assets (69,052) (50,751) 63,337 59,990 (5,715) 9,239
Net assets - July 1, as restated 213,016 144,001 1,846,127 1,873,216 2,059,143 2,017,217
Net assets - June 30 $ 143,964 93,250 1,909,464 1,933,206 2,053,428 2,026,456
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 (Continued)

Governmental activities. Governmental activities decreased the City’s net assets by $50,751 and Business-Type
activities increased net assets by $59,990, thereby resulting in an increase of $9,239 or .5% in total primary government’s
beginning net assets. Key elements of the governmental activities are discussed below:

e Total expenses decreased by $61,572 or 6.2% from last year. Total revenues decreased by $31,156 or 3.6% over last
year.

e The most significant decrease in expenses from prior year was realized in education, whose expenses decreased by
$69,546 or 76.1%. This large decrease was the result of a decision by City Council to reduce funding to Memphis
City Schools in Fiscal Year 2009.

e The general government also realized a significant decrease in expense of $22,199 or 8.2%. This decrease was
primarily the result of healthcare claims and administrative expense for current retirees being recorded in the Other
Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) fund in the current fiscal year versus the Health Insurance Internal Service Fund
in previous years. The Health Insurance Fund is consolidated into governmental activities of the government-wide
financials. The OPEB fund is a fiduciary fund and is not consolidated into the government-wide financials.

e During fiscal year 2009, revenues decreased by $31,156 or 3.6%, primarily related to a decrease of $17,810 or 3.2 %
in local taxes, $7,990 or 8.3% in state taxes and $9,977 in other revenues. Local taxes decreased due to a reduction in
the property tax rate. State taxes decreased as a result of decreased income and sales tax collections resulting from the
current recession.

Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities

Expense and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
(Thousands of Dollars)
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Business-type activities. Business-type activities increased the City’s net assets by $59,990, accounting for 3.2% growth
in the government’s beginning net assets. Key elements of the increase are as follows:

e MLGW’s Electric Division, Gas Division and Water Division account for $32 million, $30 million and $3.5 million
of the net asset increase, respectively. The electric division’s net change in net assets was down significantly year
over year as a result of a one-year temporary rate reduction. The Water division change in net assets was down year
over year as a result of continued growth of expenses relative to revenue. However, the Gas division’s change in net
assets increased year over year as a result of both sales volume and increased gas rates.

e The Stormwater fund also contributed $2.5 million towards the business-type total net asset increase. These increases
were offset by a net asset decrease of $8.9 million in the Sewer collection and Treatment fund.
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and Program - Busil type iviti Expenses and Program - typ
(Thousands of Dollars) (Thousands of Dollars)

59,000 1,850,000

1,840,000

58,000

1,830,000

1,820,000

1,810,000

1,800,000

1,790,000

1,780,000

1,770,000

1,760,000 +
Sewer collection and treatment Memphis Light, Gas and Water

Expenses and Program - i typ

(Thousands of Dollars) Revenues by Source - Business-type Activities

25,000
Unrestricted investment earnings.

Capital grants and contributions
0.0%

20,000

BProgram revenue

Operating grants and contributions
1.3%

15,000

10,000

5,000

Charges for services
Storm Water 95.5%

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements.
In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for
spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of June 30, 2009, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balance of $225,218, an increase of
$48,929 in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 95.7% or $215,527 of the fund balance constitutes unreserved
fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. However, a portion ($16,000) of the
unreserved balance is designated for future contingencies. The remainder of fund balance ($8,023) is reserved to indicate
that it is not available for new spending because it has already been committed to liquidate contracts and purchase orders
of the prior period or for special services in the amount of $1,668.
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The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2009, unreserved fund balance of the general fund
was $96,912, while total fund balance was $106,603. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to
compare both unreserved fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unreserved fund balance
represents 16.4% of total general fund expenditures, while total general fund balance represents 18.1% of the fund
expenditures.

The fund balance of the City’s general fund increased by $8,045 during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. Key factors
resulting in this increase are as follows:

e Total General Fund Revenues increased by $33,028 or 6.5% over prior year. This increase is primarily the result of
an increase in the property tax rate allocation to the general fund.

e Total expenditures increased by $46,624 or 8.6% over prior year. Expenses of the general government and
transportation and environment programs increased by $20,772 or 15.6% and $1,784 or 26.7%, respectively. Public
Safety also increased by $20,327 or 5.9%.

e These increases were the direct result of increases in personnel expense due to a 5% general increase given to all
employees and the filling of vacancies, increased subsidies to the Memphis Area Transit Authority (MATA),
increased retiree healthcare premium expense and prepayments of debt service for the Fire and Police divisions.

e The general fund’s operating transfers out increased by $4,935 or 143.1% primarily as a result of a increase in
transfers out to the Debt Service Fund due to debt service prepayments for the Fire and Police divisions made in fiscal
year 2009.

The fund balance of the City’s Debt Service fund decreased by $12,228 to $46,488 during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2009. Key factors resulting in this decrease are as follows:

e Total revenues remained relatively constant with a small decrease of $1.077 or 1.2%. However, total
expenditures increased by $19,012 or 20.5% due to increased principal and interest payments.

e Transfers In were up due primarily to increased transfers from other funds to pay their debt service obligations,
including debt service prepayments made by Fire and Police.

e Transfers outs were up from $16 to $6,000 due to a planned transfer out to the General Fund in fiscal year 20009.

Detail for other governmental funds, including special revenue funds and the capital project fund are presented in Exhibits
B-1 and B-2. Significant financial activity is summarized as follows:

e The Capital Projects Fund’s fund balance increased significantly from last year from $12,673 to $67,239. The change
resulted primarily from the increased proceeds from issuance of debt.

e The New Memphis Arena Fund (FedEx Forum) activity remained relatively constant year over year. As a result, the
fund deficit decreased from $7,718 to $6,843. The MLGW Water Division, through an agreement with the City,
transfers a payment in the amount of $2,500 per year. The agreement is effective through the year 2028. This fund
also reports the collection and disbursement of certain revenues related to the bonds issued by the Sports Authority for
construction of the arena.

e Solid Waste Management Fund expenditures exceeded revenues by $3,262, thereby, reducing fund balance to a
negative $2,298 from a positive $964.

Proprietary funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide
financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net assets of $205,000 comprised primarily of $237,074 for Memphis Light, Gas and Water, which can be
used for on-going operations of the public utility system and $11,324 negative unrestricted net asset for the Sewer
Collection and Treatment Fund. Both the Sewer Fund and MLGW are assessed an in-lieu-of tax payment with all
proceeds allocated to the General Fund, except for the Water Division payment, which is part of the financing
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arrangement for the New Memphis Arena. The remaining negative $20,750 represents unrestricted net assets of the non-
major fund, Storm Water.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The original operating budget for FY 2009 did not anticipate any use of unreserved fund balance. After a few years of
less than desirable results due to significant revenue shortfalls in state and local sales taxes, the City achieved fiscal
stability primarily as a result of increased revenues and expense savings realized from cost control initiatives and spending
restrictions on materials and supplies. Most divisions ended FY 2009 with expenditures below budget. Differences
between the original budget and the final amended budget can be briefly summarized as follows:

e General Fund actual revenues were under budget by $59,732. During fiscal year 2009, the budget was amended to
increase revenues by $57,000 in anticipation of an agreement between the Board of Education and the City of
Memphis. However, the agreement never materialized.

e Total expenditures were under budget by $26,288. Divisions with significant positive expenditure variances were led
by the Police and Fire divisions resulting from personnel expense savings related to lower staffing levels. The Parks
and Public Services divisions also had positive expense variances.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30,
2009 amounts to $2,923,811 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings,
improvements, equipment, roads, highways, and other infrastructure. The total increase in the City’s investment in capital
assets for the current fiscal year was 1.4% (a 1.0% increase for governmental activities and a 1.6% increase for business-
type activities).

Condensed Statement Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total
2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Land and buildings $ 403,335 390,501 47,536 44,988 450,871 435,489
Improvements other than

Buildings 581,504 561,593 287,119 281,770 868,623 843,363
Equipment 48,752 31,497 3,625 3,680 52,377 35,177
Construction in progress 89,934 150,694 22,406 32,169 112,340 182,863
l\vf,zthls Light, Gas and - - 1400285  1,426919 1400285 1,426,919
Total § 1,123,525 1,134,285 1,760,971 1,789,526 2,884,496 2,923,811

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:
e Completed major ADA renovations, restroom and other improvements to the Liberty Bowl Stadium.
e Completed major preventive maintenance of MATA’s capital assets such as buses, rail fleet vehicles, facilities and

infrastructure.
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Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note IV (D).

Long-term debt. At June 30, 2009, the City had total bonded debt outstanding of $2,516,138. Of this amount,
$1,232,198 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the government, inclusive of self-supporting debt of the
Board of Education and Airport Authority. The remaining balance of $1,283,940 consisted of $1,248,940 bonds secured
solely by specified revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds) and $35,000 of bond anticipation notes.

Condensed Statement of Outstanding Debt
General Obligation and Revenue Bonds

Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total
2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009
General obligation bonds 1,058,181 1,077,670 - - 1,058,181 1,077,670
Bond anticipation notes 90,000 148,470 40,000 35,000 130,000 183,470
Capital lease obligations 7,510 6,058 - - 7,510 6,058
Revenue bonds - - 1,355,864 1,248,940 1,355,864 1,248,940
Total $ 1,155,691 1,232,198 1,395,864 1,283,940 2,551,555 2,516,138

The City’s total debt decreased by $35,417 (1.4% percent) during FY 2009. Total debt includes state loans, general
obligation bonds, bond anticipation notes, capital outlay notes, capital lease obligations, and revenue bonds.
Governmental activities’ total debt increased by 6.6%, while business-type activities’ debt decreased by 8.0%.

The City has long held a high grade bond rating on indebtedness from the major credit rating services. As of June 30,
2009, the City held ratings of Al from Moody’s, AA from Standard and Poor’s and A+ Fitch, Inc. Among the factors
most commonly cited by these firms in support of the credit rating assigned to the City’s general obligation bonds include
a stable and expanding economic climate, broad revenue base, and well-managed finances. In addition, the City has
maintained good relations with the rating services and the major investment institutions through comprehensive disclosure
of financial data and direct meetings with rating agency officials. The City continues to follow prudent fiscal policies and
practices while expanding its financial base.

The City’s full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power has been pledged to the payment of general obligation debt
principal and interest. There is no legal limit on the indebtedness which may be incurred.

The City issued General Improvement Bonds of $76,025 in June, 2009. Upon expiration of a commercial paper agreement
with the State of Tennessee in April 2009, the City secured a $150,000 term loan until the City completed a direct
issuance of bond anticipation notes. The City issued $148,470 in bond anticipation notes in May 2009. The bond
anticipation notes provide interim financing for various capital projects.

On June 13, 2008, the MLGW Electric Division Series 2002 and 2003A Revenue bonds received credit upgrades from
Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”). S&P raised its rating on the 2002 Revenue bonds to AA+ from AA, and raised its rating on
the 2003A Revenue bonds to AA+ from AA-. S&P also assigned AA+ rating to the Series 2008 bonds. Fitch assigned an
AA rating to the Series 2008 Revenue bonds, and Moody’s assigned Aa2 to the Series 2008 bonds. The Water Division
continues to hold the highest possible bond ratings—Aaa from Moody’s Investors Service and AAA from Standard &
Poor’s. The Gas Division currently has no debt that is credit rated. More information is available in MLGW’s separately
issued financial statements. Separate financial statements for MLGW are issued as of and for its year-end December 31,
and can be obtained by writing to MLGW Financial Statements, P.O. Box 430, Memphis, Tennessee 38101-0430.
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Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note IV (G).
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

Factors considered in preparing the City’s budget for the 2010 fiscal year are discussed more fully in the Budget
document and include:

e The US economy is currently in a recession. Rising unemployment, a housing market crisis, record fuel costs and
turmoil in the financial and credit markets have contributed to the lowest consumer confidence index numbers
since 1982.

e The aforementioned economic realities impact our State and Local economic conditions. Consequently, these
circumstances translate into reduced revenues for our city and others across the US.

e The Adopted budget includes a plan to hire 300 additional police officers over the next three fiscal years and
various other public safety initiatives.

e Budgeted revenues decreased by .69% from $581 million to $577 million. The planned contribution to the fund
balance is $15.8 million.

At June 30, 2009, unreserved fund balance in the general fund was $96,912. The City has approved an operating budget
of $577,300 in total expenditures (net of program revenue) for FY 2010, with planned contribution of $15,880 to
unreserved fund balance. The City’s tax rate for FY 2010 has been set at $3.1957 per $100 of assessed value. The tax
rate is allocated to General Fund, Education, Debt Service, and Capital Projects. The City continues to explore cost
cutting measures and additional revenue sources.
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Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an interest in the
government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or request for additional
financial information may be addressed to the Office of the Director of Finance, Room 368, City of Memphis, 125 North
Main, Memphis, Tennessee 38103. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, the 2010 Operating Budget and 5 Year
Capital Improvement Program, and other general information about the City may be found on the City’s website,
www.memphistn.gov.
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
(Thousands of Dollars) Exhibit A-1
June 30, 2009

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,934 156,312 164,246 301,145
Investments 70,595 93,537 164,132 56,873
Equity in cash and investment pool 112,779 2,947 115,726 -
Restricted funds - 69,901 69,901 -
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles):
Property taxes 442,960 - 442,960 -
Sales and income taxes 40,491 - 40,491 -
Federal and state grants 49,508 20 49,528 1,514
Interest and dividends on investments 804 39 843 60
Notes and accounts receivable 28 281,934 281,962 7,571
Housing rehabilitation loans 66,787 - 66,787 -
Other 24,996 - 24,996 8,476
Due from other funds 10,476 - 10,476 -
Due from other agencies and governments 78,088 - 78,088 168,955
Inventories 395 57,639 58,034 13,945
Deferred purchased power and gas costs - 1,074,978 1,074,978 -
Collateral held in trust for securities on loan - 28,463 28,463 -
Prepaid expenses - - - 2,441
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 9,035
Investments - 48,416 48,416 186,512
Receivables
Federal and state grants - - - 17,603
Accrued interest - - - 1,645
Special facilities - - - 34,762
Non-depreciable capital assets 212,928 13,726 226,654 199,131
Depreciable capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 921,357 1,775,800 2,697,157 1,797,204
Bond issue costs - - - 6,115
Net pension asset 42,560 - 42,560 -
Other assets - 39,111 39,111 558
Total assets $ 2,082,686 3,642,823 5,725,509 2,813,545
(Continued)
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

(Thousands of Dollars) Exhibit A-1
June 30, 2009 (Continued)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 50,615 310,847 361,462 123,577
Accrued interest payable 13,025 - 13,025 -
Contract retainage 74 884 958 -
Insurance claims payable 7,194 - 7,194 23,314
Due to other funds 13 10,113 10,126
Due to component units 7,714 - 7,714
Due to other agencies and governments 3,416 - 3,416 4,103
Refundable bonds and deposits 890 - 890 -
Unearned revenue 521,041 143 521,184 30,370
Collateral subject to return to borrowers - 28,938 28,938 -
Customer common deposits - 23,434 23,434
Other post employment benefits 45,620 2,469 48,089 -
Other liabilities - 44,751 44,751
Noncurrent liabilities: -
Due within one year 211,000 136,825 347,825 28,600
Due in more than one year 1,128,834 1,151,213 2,280,047 781,634
Total liabilities 1,989,436 1,709,617 3,699,053 991,598
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 103,451 1,633,163 1,736,614 1,505,030
Restricted for:
Debt service and construction - 91,215 91,215 -
Capital acquisition - - - 250,543
Contracted grant programs - - - 15,337
Food service - - - 14,061
Self insurance - - - 500
Other - - - 4,257
Unrestricted:
Net Pension Asset 42,560 - 42,560 -
Other (52,761) 208,828 156,067 32,141
Total net assets 93,250 1,933,206 2,026,456 1,821,947

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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BALANCE SHEET

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS Exhibit A-3
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30, 2009
Other Total
Debt Governmental Governmental
General Service Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 41 - 7,892 7,933
Investments 10 - 70,585 70,595
Equity in cash and investment pool 54,683 23,020 23,535 101,238
Receivables (net of allowance
for uncollectibles):
Property taxes:
Current property taxes 285,517 88,967 26,568 401,052
Delinquent property taxes 25,352 8,833 7,723 41,908
Sales and income taxes 40,491 - - 40,491
Federal and state grants 1,272 - 48,236 49,508
Interest and dividends on investments 116 68 620 804
Housing rehabilitation loans - - 66,787 66,787
Other 19,886 - 5,110 24,996
Due from other funds 38,274 23,164 6,862 68,300
Due from other agencies and governments 2,730 26,571 8,008 37,309
Total assets 468,372 170,623 271,926 910,921
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 31,945 112 14,621 46,678
Contract retainage - - 74 74
Due to other funds 13 - 54,384 54,397
Due to other agencies and governments 2,383 - 1,033 3,416
Refundable bonds and deposits 890 - - 890
Deferred revenue 326,538 124,023 129,687 580,248
Total liabilities 361,769 124,135 199,799 685,703
Fund balances:
Reserved for:
Encumbrances 8,023 - - 8,023
Parks special services 1,668 - - 1,668
Unreserved, designated for:
Contingencies 16,000 - - 16,000
Unreserved, undesignated reported in:
General fund 80,912 - - 80,912
Special revenue funds - - 4,888 4,888
Debt service fund - 46,488 - 46,488
Capital projects fund - - 67,239 67,239
Total fund balances 106,603 46,488 72,127 225,218
Total liabilities and fund balances 468,372 170,623 271,926 910,921

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS Exhibit A-4
(Thousands of Dollars)

June 30, 2009

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:
Total governmental fund balances: $ 225218

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 1,133,606

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 97,540

Net pension assets should be reported as an asset in the government-
wide statement of net assets. This is the cumulative amount by which
the City has overfunded its pension obligations. 42,560

Other post employment benefits (OPEB) liabilities should be reported as

a liability in the government-wide statement of net assets. This is the

cumulative amount by which the City has underfunded its OPEB

obligations. (44,482)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of

printing & mail, information systems, health insurance, unemployment

compensation, and fleet management to individual funds. The assets

and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental

activities in the statement of net assets. (11,013)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in
the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. (1,350,179)

Net assets of governmental activities $ 93,250

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
IN FUND BALANCES / GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS Exhibit A-5
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Other Total
Debt Governmental Governmental
General Service Funds Funds

REVENUES
Local taxes $ 415,924 80,939 28,605 525,468
State taxes (local share) 59,036 - 29,167 88,203
Hotel/motel tax - 398 3,846 4,244
Licenses and permits 11,427 - - 11,427
Fines and forfeitures 10,237 - 6,420 16,657
Charges for services 27,280 - 51,059 78,339
Investment income 3,395 1,564 224 5,183
Federal grants and entitlements 2,818 - 37,357 40,175
State grants 1,938 - 10,518 12,456
Intergovernmental revenues 3,578 2,477 - 6,055
Other 8,188 1,123 4,119 13,430
Total revenues 543,821 86,501 171,315 801,637
EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 153,646 - 32,095 185,741

Public safety 363,098 - 4,268 367,366

Community services 63,812 - 33,888 97,700

Transportation and environment 8,460 - 68,265 76,725

Education - - 23,919 23,919

Capital outlay - - 91,800 91,800
Debt service:

Redemption of serial bonds and notes - 58,565 - 58,565

Interest - 52,451 - 52,451

Bond issuance cost - 15 1,384 1,399

Service charges - 523 - 523
Total expenditures 589,016 111,554 255,619 956,189
Revenues under expenditures (45,195) (25,053) (84,304) (154,552)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 61,623 18,825 6,778 87,226
Transfers out (8,383) (6,000) (10,760) (25,143)
Issuance of debt - - 284,495 284,495
Retirement of refunded debt obligation - - (150,000) (150,000)
Premium on debt issue - - 6,903 6,903
Total other financing sources (uses) 53,240 12,825 137,416 203,481
Net change in fund balances 8,045 (12,228) 53,112 48,929
Fund balances - beginning of year, as restated 98,558 58,716 19,015 176,289
Fund balances - end of year $ 106,603 46,488 72,127 225,218

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
Exhibit A-6

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays
exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides
current financial resources to governmental funds, while the
repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current
financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction,
however, has any effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds
report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts
are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. This
amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of
long-term debt and related items.

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the
costs of printing & mail, information systems, health insurance,
unemployment compensation, and fleet management to individual
funds. The net expenditure of certain activities of internal service
funds is reported with governmental activities.

Change in net assets of governmental activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL FUND CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES - Exhibit A-7
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING

(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Variance with

Final Budget-
Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
REVENUES
Local taxes:
Property taxes 256,442 256,442 259,562 3,120
Interest, penalties and commission - property taxes 7,500 7,500 6,996 (504)
Receipts in lieu of taxes contractual 9,083 9,083 11,894 2,811
Sales tax general 97,664 97,664 97,065 (599)
Sales tax beer 15,474 15,474 15,157 (317)
Alcoholic beverage tax 3,990 3,990 4,124 134
Liquor by the drink tax 2,554 2,554 2,327 (227)
Gross receipts tax 8,942 8,942 9,346 404
Excise tax 793 793 1,036 243
Franchise tax 5,098 5,098 5,373 275
Other local taxes 2,403 2,403 3,044 641
Total local taxes 409,943 409,943 415,924 5,981
State taxes (local share):
Sales tax 51,332 51,332 45,215 (6,117)
Income taxes 13,000 13,000 11,710 (1,290)
Beer taxes 371 371 359 (12)
Alcoholic beverage tax 247 247 271 24
Gasoline inspection fees 1,546 1,546 1,481 (65)
Total state taxes (local share) 66,496 66,496 59,036 (7,460)
Licenses and permits:
Auto licenses 10,593 10,593 10,271 (322)
Dog licenses 434 434 425 (9)
Liquor by the drink licenses 270 270 270 -
Other 475 475 461 (14)
Total licenses and permits 11,772 11,772 11,427 (345)
Fines and forfeitures:
City courts 8,981 8,981 9,496 515
Library 1,015 1,015 741 (274)
Total fines and forfeitures 9,996 9,996 10,237 241
(Continued)
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GENERAL FUND CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES - Exhibit A-7
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING (Continued)
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Variance with

Final Budget-
Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Charges for services:
Building and other inspection fees $ 835 835 521 (314)
Park commission revenues 4,965 4,965 3,581 (1,384)
Parking meter revenues 580 580 429 (151)
Ambulance service fees 15,842 15,842 16,025 183
Rents 750 750 696 (54)
Tax sale attorney fees 595 595 804 209
Wrecker and storage fees 1,029 1,029 2,036 1,007
Police special events 2,391 2,391 2,160 (231)
911 emergency services 293 293 293 -
Other 543 543 735 192
Total charges for services 27,823 27,823 27,280 (543)
Investment income:
Interest on investments 4,303 4,303 3,250 (1,053)
Other 73 73 145 72
Total investment income 4,376 4,376 3,395 (981)
Federal grants 334 334 2,818 2,484
State grants 1,371 1,416 1,938 522
Intergovernmental revenues 3,578 3,578 3,578 -
Other:
Auctions and sale of assets 2,310 2,310 1,956 (354)
Property damage reimbursement 271 271 253 (18)
Property insurance recoveries - - 1,038 1,038
Local shared revenue 5,056 5,056 1,729 (3,327)
Memphis Board of Education settlement - 57,500 - (57,500)
Miscellaneous 2,599 2,682 3,212 530
Total other 10,236 67,819 8,188 (59,631)
Total revenues 3 545,925 603,553 543,821 (59,732)
Other source:
Transfers in:
Debt service fund $ - 10,000 6,000 (4,000)
Sewer collection and treatment fund 5,175 5,175 5,887 712
MLG&W fund 53,700 53,700 49,736 (3,964)
Community services fund 2 2 - 2)
Total other source $ 58,877 68,877 61,623 (7,254)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING

(Thousands of Dollars)
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
Exhibit A-8

EXPENDITURES
General government:
Legislative:

Personal services
Materials and supplies

Total legislative

Judicial:
Personal services
Materials and supplies

Total judicial

Court clerk:

Personal services
Materials and supplies
Capital outlay

Total court clerk

Executive:

Personal services
Materials and supplies
Capital outlay

Grants and subsidies

Expense reimbursement

Total executive

Finance and administration:

Personal services
Materials and supplies
Capital outlay

Expense reimbursement

Total finance and administration

Variance with

Final Budget-
Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
$ 1,398 1,418 1,302 116
445 445 234 211
1,843 1,863 1,536 327
557 521 497 24
87 127 98 29
644 648 595 53
3,102 3,104 3,021 83
342 376 348 28
22 38 16 22
3,466 3,518 3,385 133
5,948 4,854 4,468 386
1,747 2,116 1,413 703
37 79 78 1
1,840 1,967 1,649 318
(30) (30) (8) (22)
9,542 8,986 7,600 1,386
5,252 5,209 4,667 542
1,650 1,751 1,310 441
- 15 - 15
(781) (781) (912) 131
$ 6,121 6,194 5,065 1,129
(Continued)
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GENERAL FUND CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES - Exhibit A-8
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING (Continued)
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Variance with

Final Budget-
Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
City attorney:
Personal services $ 5,031 5,085 4,439 646
Materials and supplies 16,496 16,621 16,286 335
Expense reimbursement (4,089) (4,089) (3,459) (630)
Total city attorney 17,438 17,617 17,266 351
City engineer:
Personal services 9,066 9,686 9,495 191
Materials and supplies 2,181 2,214 1,407 807
Capital outlay 34 34 - 34
Expense reimbursement (4,548) (4,548) (4,819) 271
Total city engineer 6,733 7,386 6,083 1,303
Information systems:
Personal services 3,015 2,998 2,462 536
Materials and supplies 17,953 18,003 16,593 1,410
Capital outlay 755 755 392 363
Expense reimbursement (1,657) (1,657) (1,639) (18)
Total information systems 20,066 20,099 17,808 2,291
Human resources:
Personal services 4,794 5,023 5,019 4
Materials and supplies 4,532 5,337 3,498 1,839
Capital outlay 1 51 49 2
Expense reimbursement (330) (330) (441) 111
Total human resources 8,997 10,081 8,125 1,956
General services:
Personal services 9,862 9,992 9,426 566
Materials and supplies 5,582 6,234 6,232 2
Capital outlay 5 5 - 5
Expense reimbursement (1,345) (1,997) (3,363) 1,366
Total general services 14,104 14,234 12,295 1,939
Special appropriations:
Personal services 202 205 156 49
Materials and supplies 30 30 25 5
Grants and subsidies 71,597 78,369 78,359 10
Expense reimbursement (3,978) (3,978) (3,978) -
Total special appropriations 67,851 74,626 74,562 64
Total general government $ 156,805 165,252 154,320 10,932
(Continued)
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GENERAL FUND CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Exhibit A-8
(Continued)

Variance with

Final Budget-
Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Public safety:
Police:
Personal services $ 188,962 190,154 186,696 3,458
Materials and supplies 20,160 20,139 19,042 1,097
Capital outlay 693 693 473 220
Expense reimbursement (112) (112) (329) 217
Total police 209,703 210,874 205,882 4,992
Fire:
Personal services 142,329 143,007 140,249 2,758
Materials and supplies 15,658 16,914 16,911 3
Capital outlay 1,083 643 597 46
Expense reimbursement (225) (225) (267) 42
Total fire 158,845 160,339 157,490 2,849
Total public safety 368,548 371,213 363,372 7,841
Community services:
Parks and recreation:
Personal services 17,754 18,256 17,312 944
Materials and supplies 14,305 13,431 12,546 885
Capital outlay 165 165 44 121
Inventory 92 91 18 73
Expense reimbursement (93) (93) (163) 70
Total parks and recreation 32,223 31,850 29,757 2,093
Public Service:
Personal services 19,128 18,449 16,870 1,579
Materials and supplies 6,548 6,615 5,436 1,179
Capital outlay 7 7 - 7
Total public service $ 25,683 25,071 22,306 2,765
(Continued)
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GENERAL FUND CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES - Exhibit A-8
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON BASIS OF BUDGETING (Continued)
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Variance with

Final Budget-

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive

Original Final Amounts (Negative)
Community development:
Personal services $ 258 264 264 -
Materials and supplies 198 196 161 35
Capital outlay 5 5 - 5
Grants and subsidies 5,335 5,235 4,438 797
Total community development 5,796 5,700 4,863 837
Community enhancement:
Personal services 5,488 5,736 5,333 403
Materials and supplies 2,012 1,989 1,845 144
Capital outlay - 222 163 59
Expense reimbursement (442) (442) (364) (78)
Total community enhancement 7,058 7,505 6,977 528
Total community services 70,760 70,126 63,903 6,223
Transportation and environment:
Public works:
Personal services 7,595 7,722 7,183 539
Materials and supplies 17,250 16,262 15,403 859
Capital outlay 10 10 - 10
Expense reimbursement (14,514) (14,514) (14,398) (116)
Total public works 10,341 9,480 8,188 1,292
Total transportation and environment 10,341 9,480 8,188 1,292
Total expenditures $ 606,454 616,071 589,783 26,288
Other use - transfers out (primary):
Solid waste management $ - 515 - 515
Debt service fund 3,776 3,776 5,653 (1,877)
Storm water fund 452 452 452 -
Miscellaneous grants fund 138 138 - 138
Community redevelopment fund 1,300 1,300 2,278 (978)
Total transfers out 5,666 6,181 8,383 (2,202)
Other use - transfers out (component unit):
Transfer out - Board of Education - 57,500 - 57,500
Total other uses $ 5,666 63,681 8,383 55,298

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS Exhibit A-9
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30, 2009
Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Major
Funds
Governmental
Activities-
Sewer Col- MLGW MLGW MLGW Internal
lection and Electric Gas Water Non - Major Service
Treatment Division Division Division Fund Total Funds
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 246 119,657 26,295 10,113 1 156,312 1
Investments 20,594 57,026 11,090 4,827 - 93,537 -
Equity in cash and investment pool 2,947 - - - - 2,947 11,541
Restricted funds - current - 32,846 27,613 9,442 - 69,901 -
Receivables:
Notes and accounts 3,111 152,925 95,907 13,699 1,643 267,285 28
Interest on investments 39 - - - - 39 -
Federal and state grants - - - - 20 20 -
Due from other funds - - - - - - 5,369
Prepaid power cost - 92,155 273 - - 92,428 -
Inventories of materials and supplies - 23,757 31,491 2,391 - 57,639 395
Collateral held in trust for securities on loan - 20,096 5,515 2,852 - 28,463 -
Other current assets - 3,068 23,846 - - 26,914 -
Total current assets 26,937 501,530 222,030 43,324 1,664 795,485 17,334
Non-current assets:
Restricted assets:
Investments, less current portion - 23,303 8,026 17,087 - 48,416 -
Total restricted assets - 23,303 8,026 17,087 - 48,416 -
Capital assets:
Land 13,692 - - - 34 13,726 -
Buildings 106,090 - - - - 106,090 -
Utility plant - 1,405,585 535,359 420,983 - 2,361,927 -
Improvements other than buildings 497,154 - - - 26,694 523,848 -
Machinery and equipment 22,803 - - - 7,012 29,815 3,966
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization (329,003) (524,624) (240,716) (169,668) (14,038) (1,278,049) (3,287)
Total capital assets 310,736 880,961 294,643 251,315 19,702 1,757,357 679
Construction in progress 18,160 - - - 14,009 32,169 -
Net capital assets 328,896 880,961 294,643 251,315 33,711 1,789,526 679
Other noncurrent assets:
Notes receivable - 1,107 11,412 2,130 - 14,649 -
Prepaid power cost - long term - 982,550 - - - 982,550 -
Prepayments In Lieu of Taxes - 1,444 463 - - 1,907 -
Unamortized debt expense - 7,333 - - - 7,333 -
Other assets 358 1,668 560 371 - 2,957 -
Total other noncurrent assets 358 994,102 12,435 2,501 - 1,009,396 -
Total noncurrent assets 329,254 1,898,366 315,104 270,903 33,711 2,847,338 679
Total assets 356,191 2,399,896 537,134 314,227 35,375 3,642,823 18,013
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS Exhibit A-9
(Thousands of Dollars) (Continued)
June 30, 2009

Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Funds
Governmental
Activities-
Sewer Col- MLGW MLGW MLGW Internal
lection and Electric Gas Water Non - Major Service
Treatment Division Division Division Fund Total Funds
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,810 146,342 44,957 - 808 195,917 2,687
Bonds and notes payable - 81,976 35,000 - - 116,976 -
Accrued liabilities 2,263 46,435 17,964 8,824 251 75,737 -
Payables due from restricted assets - 25,456 7,980 5,757 - 39,193 -
Insurance claims payable - - - - - - 7,194
Contract retainage 505 - - - 379 884 -
Due to other funds 4,612 - - - 9,329 13,941 4,981
Deferred revenue 143 - - - - 143 6,518
Current installment of revenue
bonds payable 8,855 7,390 - 3,235 - 19,480 -
Collateral subject to return to borrowers - 20,432 5,607 2,899 - 28,938 -
Other post employment benefits 1,615 - - - 854 2,469 1,138
Vacation, sick and other leave benefits 3,089 - - - 1,367 4,456 2,680
Total current liabilities paid from current assets 24,892 328,031 111,508 20,715 12,988 498,134 25,198
Long-term (net of current maturities):
Revenue bonds payable 128,270 1,014,310 - 4,546 - 1,147,126 -
Customer common deposits - 18,219 4,669 546 - 23,434 -
Other - 28,664 10,127 5,960 - 44,751 -
Total long-term liabilities 128,270 1,061,193 14,796 11,052 - 1,215,311 -
Total liabilities 153,162 1,389,224 126,304 31,767 12,988 1,713,445 25,198
NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 191,771 869,504 294,643 243,534 33,711 1,633,163 679
Restricted for debt service and construction 32,008 14,830 24,150 20,227 - 91,215 -
Unrestricted (deficit) (20,750) 126,338 92,037 18,699 (11,324) 205,000 (7,864)
TOTAL NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) $ 203,029 1,010,672 410,830 282,460 22,387 1,929,378 (7,185)
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of
internal service funds related to enterprise funds 3,828
Net assets of business-type activities $ 1,933,206

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
IN FUND NET ASSETS / PROPRIETARY FUNDS Exhibit A-10
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major
Funds
Governmental
Activities-

Sewer Col- MLGW MLGW MLGW Internal

lection and Electric Gas Water Non - Major Service

Treatment Division Division Division Fund Total Funds
Charges for services $ 53,778 1,214,046 523,317 80,741 19,680 1,891,562 91,965
Operating revenues 53,778 1,214,046 523,317 80,741 19,680 1,891,562 91,965
Operating expenses other than

depreciation and amortization:
Personal services 16,691 - - - 7,594 24,285 11,968
Materials, supplies, services, and other 21,955 - - - 2,968 24,923 5,169
Capital outlay - - - - 2,254 2,254 10
Purchased power and gas for resale - 991,866 394,023 - - 1,385,889 -
Production - - - 15,817 - 15,817 -
Operation - 109,436 66,526 42,029 - 217,991 -
Maintenance - 42,318 9,684 7,624 - 59,626 -
In Lieu of Taxes - 516 360 - - 876 -
Inventories - - - - - - 17,531
Claims incurred - - - - - - 44,954
Total operating expenses other than
depreciation and amortization 38,646 1,144,136 470,593 65,470 12,816 1,731,661 79,632
Operating income before
depreciation and amortization 15,132 69,910 52,724 15,271 6,864 159,901 12,333
Depreciation and amortization:
On assets acquired with own funds 12,716 40,018 12,377 10,493 603 76,207 109
Operating income 2,416 29,892 40,347 4,778 6,261 83,694 12,224
Non-operating revenues:
Transmission credits - 26,493 - - - 26,493 -
Investment income 660 56,219 3,785 1,692 - 62,356 431
Federal grant - - - - - - 19
State grant - - - - 205 205 -
Other 5 - - - 2 7 -
Total non-operating revenues 665 82,712 3,785 1,692 207 89,061 450
Non-operating expenses:
Interest on bonded indebtedness 6,614 45,843 1,149 420 - 54,026 -
Total non-operating expenses 6,614 45,843 1,149 420 - 54,026 -
Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers (3,533) 66,761 42,983 6,050 6,468 118,729 12,674
Transfers in - - - - 452 452 -
Transfers out (5,887) (34,263) (12,827) (2,500) (4,412) (59,889) (15,085)
Capital contributions 524 - - - - 524 -
Change in net assets (deficit) (8,896) 32,498 30,156 3,550 2,508 59,816 (2,411)
Total net assets (deficit) - beginning of year, as restated 211,925 978,174 380,674 278,910 19,879 (4,774)
Total net assets (deficit) - end of year $ 203,029 1,010,672 410,830 282,460 22,387 (7,185)
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of
internal service funds related to enterprise funds 174

Change in net assets of business-type activities $ 59,990

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
PROPRIETARY FUNDS Exhibit A-11
(Thousands of Dollars)

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

Sewer Col- MLGW MLGW MLGW
lection and Electric Gas Water Non-Major Internal
Treatment Division Division Division Funds Total Service Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers and users $ 54,042 1,201,126 513,242 79,425 19,504 1,867,339 1,472
Receipts from other division funds - - - 1,686 - 1,686 37,089
Employee contributions - - - - - - 15,766
Employer contributions - - - - - - 42,804
Payments to suppliers (19,719) (859,377) (446,989) (33,812) (5,428) (1,365,325) (7,961)
Payments to employees (15,462) (89,775) (47,439) (34,507) (6,852) (194,035) (10,642)
Payments to other division funds - (313) (972) - - (1,285) (491)
Payments for taxes - (480 (197) - - (677) -
Payments for inventory - - - - - N (17,415)
Payments for claims incurred - - - - - - (49,220)
Other receipts - 243 - - - 243 -
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 18,861 251,424 17,645 12,792 7,224 307,946 11,402
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Transfers to City - (34,263) (12,827) (2,500) - (49,590) -
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - 100,479 - - - 100,479 -
Receipt of Miscellaneous Revenue 5 - - - 2 7 -
Principal payments on long-term debt - (178,440) - - - (178,440) -
Interest expense on bonds - (55,016) - - - (55,016) -
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable - - 35,000 - - 35,000 -
Principal payments on notes payable - - (40,000) - - (40,000) -
Interest expense on notes payable - - (1,255) - - (1,255) -
Advances from other funds - - - - 3,964 3,964 -
Transfers from other funds - - - - 452 452 -
Transfers to other funds (5,887) - - - (4,412) (10,299) (15,085)
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital and related financing (5,882) (167,240) (19,082) (2,500) 6 (194,698) (15,085)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (7,806) (80,791) (15,986) (16,975) (7,435) (128,993) (404)
Contributions in aid of construction - 11,675 1,567 4,589 - 17,831 -
Sale(Purchase) of utility plant to/from other Divisions - (6) - 6 - - -
Receipts from federal grants - - - - - - 19
Receipts from state grants - - - - 205 205 -
Principal payments on capital debt (8,285) (6,820) - (3,100) - (18,205) -
Interest payments on capital debt (6,500) (1,023) - (445) - (7,968) -
Capital contributions 524 - - - - 524 -
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (22,067) (76,965) (14,419) (15,925) (7,230) (136,606) (385)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Sales and maturities of investments 17,326 27,104 15,574 6,699 - 66,703 -
Purchase of investments (12,273) (35,345) (13,719) (5,365) - (66,702) -
Payments received on notes receivable - 1,708 1,944 13 - 3,665 -
Issuance of notes receivable - - - (795) - (795) -
Investment income earned on investments 766 8,378 3,547 1,272 - 13,963 431
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 5,819 1,845 7,346 1,824 - 16,834 431
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,269) 9,064 (8,510) (3,809) - (6,524) (3,637)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,462 159,049 62,813 37,235 1 265,560 15,179
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 3,193 168,113 54,303 33,426 1 259,036 11,542

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities
Operating income (loss) 2,416 29,892 40,347 4,778 6,261 83,694 12,224
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 12,716 42,841 15,200 11,245 603 82,605 109
Transmission credits - 26,493 - - - 26,493 -
Prepay power credits - 44,542 - - - 44,542 -
Other income - 3,367 155 467 - 3,989 -
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts receivable 264 (26,104) (13,488) (1,523) (176) (41,027) (5,321)
Prepaid power cost - 88,987 - - - 88,987 -
Prepayments - in lieu of taxes - 6 35 - - 41 -
Deferred purchased power and gas cost - - 2,555 - - 2,555 -
Inventories - (1,049) (6,750) (130) - (7,929) -
Other assets - (599) (15,161) - - (15,760) 115
(Increase) decrease in liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,236 41,761 (4,619) - - 39,378 -
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,229 5,524 1,673 (614) 536 8,348 4,275
Customer deposits - 629 (396) 29 - 262 -
Insurance reserves - (281) 410 667 - 796 -
Medical benefit accrual - 1,181 358 444 - 1,983 -
Other - (5,766) (2,674) (2,571) - (11,011) -
Total adjustments 16,445 221,532 (22,702) 8,014 963 224,252 (822)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 18,861 251,424 17,645 12,792 7,224 307,946 11,402

Reconciliaton of cash and cash equivalents per
statements of cash flows to the balance sheets:

Restricted funds $ - 56,149 35,639 26,529 - 118,317 -
Less investments included in restricted funds - (7,693) (7,631) (3,216) - (18,540) -
Cash and cash equivalents included in restricted funds - 48,456 28,008 23,313 - 99,777 -
Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 246 119,657 26,295 10,113 1 156,312 1
Current assets - equity in cash and investment pool 2,947 - - - - 2,947 11,541
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 3,193 168,113 54,303 33,426 1 259,036 11,542

During the year, the sewer fund received $74 in sewer lines and pipe contributed from developers. Also, during the year the Sewer Fund's investments depreciated by $90.
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
FIDUCIARY FUNDS Exhibit A-12

(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30, 2009

Pension
and OPEB
Trust
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 165,254
Investments, at fair value:
Short-term investments 400
U.S. government securities - long-term 98,926
Common stock - domestic 799,530
Common stock - foreign 222,346
Corporate bonds - domestic 535,918
Corporate bonds - foreign 39,964
Mutual funds and money market funds 60,108
Collateralized mortgage obligations 111,673
Asset-backed pooled securities 12,702
Mortgage-backed pooled securities 223,404
Investments in index funds 75,010
Investment in real estate 156,711
Investment in high yield bond fund 10,374
Investment in international equity fund 191,567
Investment in multi-class investment fund 10,005
Investment in limited partnership 87
Total investments 2,548,725
Equity in cash and investment pool 13,038
Interest and dividends receivables 12,894
Receivable for securities sold 19,190
Due from other funds 13
Employer and employee contributions receivable 891
Collateral held in trust for securities on loan 129,619
Total assets 2,889,624
LIABILITIES
Notes & accounts payable 239,473
Due to other funds 363
Total liabilities 239,836
NET ASSETS
Held in trust for pension benefits,
pool participants, and OPEB $ 2,649,788

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

FIDUCIARY FUNDS Exhibit A-13
(Thousands of Dollars)
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009
Pension
and OPEB

ADDITIONS (REDUCTIONS)
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Total contributions

Investment income (loss):
Interest and dividend income
Securities lending income
Other investment income
Gain/(loss) on real estate investments
Net appreciation/(depreciation) in
the fair value of investments
Total investment income/(loss)

Total Additions (Reductions)

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits
OPEB expense paid on behalf of OPEB trust
Administrative expenses
Refunds of contributions

Total Deductions

Increase/(decrease) before transfers
Transfers in

Net increase/(decrease)

Net assets - beginning of year

Net assets - end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Trust Funds

$ 123,324
48,127
171,451

108,318
1,432
1,267

822

(845,513)
(733,674)

(562,223)

260,598
19,170
15,923
17,052

312,743

(874,966)
15,085
(859,881)

3,509,669

$ 2,649,788




COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE

COMPONENT UNITS Exhibit A-14
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30, 2009
Memphis
Area Memphis
Board of Transit Airport Zoological
Education Authority Authority Society Total
ASSETS
Current unrestricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 290,061 1,333 5,120 4,631 301,145
Investments 29,688 - 18,591 8,594 56,873
Receivables:
Federal and state grants - 1,462 52 - 1,514
Accrued interest - - 60 - 60
Accounts - - 7,571 - 7,571
Other 3,632 1,070 - 3,774 8,476
Due from other agencies and governments 168,955 - - - 168,955
Inventories of materials and supplies 9,368 2,537 1,641 399 13,945
Prepaid expenses - 258 2,183 - 2,441
Total current unrestricted assets 501,704 6,660 35,218 17,398 560,980

Current restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents - - 9,035 - 9,035
Investments - 523 109,158 - 109,681
Receivables:
Federal and state grants - - 17,603 - 17,603
Accrued interest - - 1,645 - 1,645
Total current restricted assets - 523 137,441 - 137,964
Total current assets 501,704 7,183 172,659 17,398 698,944

Non-current restricted assets:

Investments - - 76,831 - 76,831
Receivables:

Special facilities rent - - 34,762 - 34,762
Total non-current restricted assets - - 111,593 - 111,593

Capital Assets:

Land 34,250 2,731 162,150 - 199,131
Buildings 1,244,690 151,597 341,007 - 1,737,294
Improvements other than buildings - - 840,052 - 840,052
Machinery, buses and equipment 208,166 89,380 87,193 99 384,838
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization (576,476) (117,906) (547,606) (21) (1,242,009)
Total capital assets, net 910,630 125,802 882,796 78 1,919,306
Construction in progress 30,843 3,618 42,568 - 77,029
Net capital assets 941,473 129,420 925,364 78 1,996,335
Bond issue costs - - 6,115 - 6,115
Other assets - 12 - 546 558
Total assets $ 1,443,177 136,615 1,215,731 18,022 2,813,545
(Continued)
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS CITY OF MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE
COMPONENT UNITS Exhibit A-14
(Thousands of Dollars) (Continued)
June 30, 2009

Memphis
Area Memphis
Board of Transit Airport Zoological
Education Authority Authority Society Total

LIABILITIES
Current:
Notes and accounts payable $ 83,827 3,012 15,555 842 103,236
Due to other agencies and governments 894 - 3,129 80 4,103
Accrued liabilities 2,398 3,158 11,773 3,012 20,341
Insurance claims payable 22,127 1,187 - - 23,314
Deferred revenue 28,858 239 - 1,273 30,370
Current installment of general

obligation bonds payable - - 1,805 - 1,805
Current installment of revenue bonds payable - - 26,795 - 26,795
Total current liabilities 138,104 7,596 59,057 5,207 209,964
Long-term (net of current maturities):
Other post employment benefits 193,594 2,429 - - 196,023
General obligation bonds payable - - 3,920 - 3,920
Revenue bonds payable - - 492,660 - 492,660
Due to other agencies and governments 3,730 800 - - 4,530
Deferred lease revenue - - 76,175 - 76,175
Other long term obligations 7,692 - 634 - 8,326
Total long-term liabilities 205,016 3,229 573,389 - 781,634
Total liabilities 343,120 10,825 632,446 5,207 991,598
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 936,758 129,420 438,852 78 1,505,108
Restricted for:

Capital acquisition 121,411 - 123,059 6,073 250,543

Contracted grant programs 15,337 - - - 15,337

Food service 14,061 - - - 14,061

Self insurance - 500 - - 500

Other - - - 4,257 4,257
Unrestricted 12,490 (4,130) 21,374 2,407 32,141
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 1,100,057 125,790 583,285 12,815 1,821,947

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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